STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Horry County

Paul Burch, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2014-001668

RECEIVED

NOV 16 2015

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

ANTHONY ADKINS,

APPELLANT

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

TRISTAN M. SHAFFER
Axelrod & Associates, PA
4701 Oleander Drive
Myrtle Beach, SC 29577
(803) 916-9300

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the trial court err in ruling that text messages from the alleged victim and her sister sent to Appellant on prepaid "burner" telephones were inadmissible on authenticity grounds, when Appellant testified that he attributed the phone numbers to the alleged victim and her sister through voice identification, context of the messages, and nude pictures of the alleged victim?
2. Did the trial Court err in failing to qualify a 40-year law enforcement veteran as an expert witness on police investigation and/or crime scene investigation?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Procedural History

On July 25, 2013, Appellant was indicted for Criminal Domestic Violence of a High and Aggravated Nature and Kidnapping. ROA 378-381. Appellant's case was called to trial on July 21, 2014 before the Honorable Paul Burch. ROA 1. Appellant was represented by Stuart Axelrod and Tristan Shaffer. State was represented by Assistant Solicitor Nancy Livesay. On July 23, 2014, the jury found Appellant Guilty. ROA 330, ll. 2-10. Appellant was sentenced two concurrent sentences of ten years. ROA 341, ll. 11-13. This appeal follows.

Factual History

Appellant was accused by his girlfriend, Jerica Bryson, of kidnapping and assault that allegedly took place over several days. Although there were pictures of the injuries, there was no physical evidence collected to support her claims.

At trial, Appellant argued that the State failed to meet their burden due to inconsistencies in the alleged victim's stories and the failure of the State to present any corroborating evidence. ROA 273, l. 3 – ROA 292, l. 17. Appellant presented witnesses in an attempt to point out the inconsistencies in Jerica's story and to show that the State failed to and to show deficiencies in the investigation. However, Appellant was not allowed to present evidence of text messages received from Jerica and her sister. ROA 143, ll. 6-21; ROA 189, ll. 1-6; ROA 191, ll. 3-10. Additionally, the trial court refused to allow expert testimony concerning the deficiencies in the criminal investigation. ROA 265, ll. 1-17.

Appellant was convicted and sentenced to ten years. This appeal follows.

ARGUMENT

I. The trial court erred in ruling that text messages from the alleged victim and her sister sent to Appellant on prepaid "burner" telephones were inadmissible on authenticity grounds, when Appellant testified that he attributed the phone numbers to the alleged victim and her sister through voice identification, context of the messages, and nude pictures of the alleged victim.

Relevant Facts

After Appellant's arrest, Jerica contacted Appellant via several phone numbers. Appellant had both communicated with Jerica both through text and phone calls on these numbers. Appellant had also been in touch with Jerica's sister, Tasha, through text messages. ROA 147, ll. 16-25.

Appellant recognized the numbers as coming from Jerica and Tasha. Appellant had spoken to Jerica and Tasha on these numbers and recognized their voices. ROA 147, l. 24-ROA 148, l. 17; ROA 151, ll. 3-15. Appellant then stored the numbers on his phone.

Appellant could further recognize the numbers belonging to Jerica the sexual context of the messages. ROA 150, ll.7-13. Moreover, Jerica had sent Appellant nude pictures of herself from the phone numbers. From the nude pictures, Appellant was able to further identify Jerica as the owner of the phone. ROA 150, ll. 14-15. Appellant could even identify the room where the pictures were taken as a room in Jerica's grandmother's house. Tr. ROA 150, ll. 16-22.

At the direction of his trial counsel, Appellant produced his phone to a private investigator, Jather Stevens, to examine the phone and text messages. ROA 170, l. 7 – ROA

172, l.16. Appellant testified that he had not altered the text messages in any way. Likewise, Mr. Stevens had not altered the content of the text message conversations but had pulled the messages off into a print. ROA 172, ll. 14-16. Mr. Stevens also attempted to locate subscriber information on the phones that were parties to the text message conversations. However, the search for these numbers indicated that the other parties were using "burner" phones without subscriber information. ROA 173, ll.4-7.

During trial, Jerica claimed that she was afraid of Appellant hand had not contact with Appellant since leaving the hospital in South Carolina. ROA 33, ll. 1-19. Appellant sought to impeach these statements through the text messages ROA 193, ll. 1-2. Appellant also sought to introduce these text messages to show that Jerica was not afraid of Appellant. ROA 193, ll. 1-3. Moreover, Appellant believed that the text messages from Jerica and Tasha were relevant for impeachment and character purposes. ROA 193, ll. 9-14.

During trial, Jerica claimed that she was afraid of Appellant hand had not contact with Appellant since leaving the hospital in South Carolina. ROA 33, ll. 1-19. Appellant sought to impeach these statements through the text messages ROA 193, ll. 1-2. Appellant also sought to introduce these text messages to show that Jerica was not afraid of Appellant. ROA 193, ll. 1-3. Moreover, Appellant believed that the text messages from Jerica and Tasha were relevant for impeachment and character purposes. ROA 193, ll. 9-14.

Discussion

Appellant met the requirement for authentication; therefore, the text messages should have been admissible. "The requirement of authentication or identification as a condition precedent to admissibility is satisfied by evidence sufficient to support a finding

that the matter in question is what its proponent claims." Rule 901(a), SCRE. The state rule is identical to the federal rule with the exception of subsection (b)(10). *See* Rule 901, SCRE (notes). Under the federal rule, the proponent need not rule out all possibilities inconsistent with authenticity but must merely present sufficient proof to allow a reasonable juror to find the evidence is what it purports to be. *See United States v. Hyles*, 479 F.3d 958, 968-69 (8th Cir. 2007); *see also United States v. Vidacak*, 553 F.3d 344 (2009) ("the burden of authentication is not as demanding as suggested by Vidacak--a proponent need not establish a perfect chain of custody or documentary evidence to support their admissibility.").

Rule 901 provides a non-exclusive list of ways in which a document may be authenticated. For example, statements over a telephone may be authenticated by voice identification Rule 901(b)(5). However, there is no specific limitation contained in Rule 901 that limits a party's ability to authenticate specific documents.

Although there is no South Carolina law directly on point, several state and federal courts have considered issues involving authenticating text messages. In *State v. Taylor*, the North Carolina Court of Appeals found that there was sufficient evidence to authenticate text messages when the sender identified himself and provided information that was known by the alleged sender. *See State v. Taylor*, 178 N.C. 395, 414, 632 S.E.2d 218, 231 (N.C. App. 2006). Other jurisdictions similarly have focused on the sender's identity and looked to the context and content of the text messages for evidence identifying the sender. *See, e.g., Dickens v. State*, 175 Md. App. 231, 927 A.2d 32, 36-37 (Md. Ct. Spec. App. 2007) (identifying details in text messages that could have been known by only a small number of persons, including defendant, defendant's conduct after the messages were sent, and

nickname used in one message as circumstantial evidence sufficient to link defendant to the messages).

Here Appellant presented sufficient evidence on which the finder of fact would have been able to find that the text messages were sent by Jerica and Tasha. Appellant testified that he had saved the numbers in his phone and had spoken to Jerica and Tasha on those numbers. *See* Rule 901(B)(5), SCRE. Appellant also that he was able to identify that Jerica and Tasha were the ones sending the messages based on the context of the messages. *See Dickens, supra*. Furthermore, the sender's identified themselves as Tasha and Jerica. *See Taylor, supra*. Moreover, in the case of text messages from Jerica, at one point she sends nude pictures of herself in the home she is staying in. This is strong circumstantial evidence to support the fact that those text messages came from Jerica.

In sum, the test for authentication is not a strenuous one; Appellant was able to far exceed the requirements of Rule 901, SCRE. Therefore, the jury should have been allowed to determine whether the messages were authentic.

II. The Trial Court erred in failing to qualify a 40-year law enforcement veteran as an expert witness on police investigation and/or crime scene investigation.

Relevant Facts

Despite Jerica claiming that she had been vaginally penetrated with a vacuum hose, the police did not collect any forensic evidence that would corroborate Jerica's story. In fact, the police did very little in the way of investigating this crime other than relying on the word of Jerica. Appellant attacked the investigation and argued that the state had failed to meet its burden in this case. ROA 281, l. 2 – ROA 282, l.16. Officer Mossi and Officer Vanvorris

testified that the case was passed the case off to a detective in keeping with departmental policy. To rebut the testimony of Officer Mossi and Officer Vanvorris and to point out in adequacies in the investigation, Appellant sought to introduce the evidence of Neil Frebowitz. ROA 260, ll. 1-18.

Frebowitz testified that he started his law enforcement career in 1974. He retired from the Washington DC Police Department in 2004 and began to work for the Horry County Police Department (HCPD) soon thereafter. ROA 245, ll. 7-9. From 2008 until 2014, Frebowitz worked as a detective for the Major and Violent Crimes Unit of the HCPD. ROA 248, ll. 9-24.

Despite Mr. Frebowitz's long career, the Court found that Frebowitz was not qualified as an expert. The Court made the following ruling:

[E]ver since the OJ Simpson case, the trial courts in the United States have been criticized heavily, especially Judge Ito in that case, about the shift of trying defendants for what they are charged with, to trying everybody else, especially law enforcement. It has been a terrible philosophical problem for the courts, and still trying to sort it out. What you are attempting to do here, I'm not having any part of it. I respect his law enforcement career because I was in it a long time myself. It sounds like we followed almost the same path, but he's never been qualified in this court. Where are we headed with this? I can see what is happening. I'm not having any part of it. Therefore, he is not qualified for criminal investigation to testify in this regard. I'm not going to find it.

ROA 265, ll. 1-17. Additionally, the Court refused to allow Trial Counsel to proffer Mr. Frebowitz's testimony. ROA 265, 1.1 – ROA 262, l. 25

The following day of trial, the State suggested alternative basis for the Court's ruling; however, the Court reaffirmed that it denied Mr. Frebowitz's testimony based on his qualifications. ROA 270, ll. 1-20.

Discussion

"Expert testimony is not admissible unless it satisfies all three requirements with respect to subject matter, expert qualifications, and reliability." *See Watson v. Ford Motor Co.*, 389 S.C. 434, 446, 699 S.E.2d 169, 175 (2010). Although in the present case the Trial Court seems to have personal "philosophical" reasons for disagree with the subject matter of Mr. Frebowitz's testimony, the trial court's legal basis for suppressing the evidence is based on Mr. Frebowitz's qualifications. ROA 261, ll. 1-17; ROA 270, ll. 16-20.

Rule 702, SCRE recognizes that there are a variety of ways in which a person can become qualified as an expert. *See Fields v. J Haynes Waters Builders, Inc.*, 376 S.C. 545, 658 S.E.2d 80 (2007). Defects in an expert witness's education and experience go to the weight, rather than the admissibility, of the expert's testimony. *See Gooding v. St. Francis Xavier Hosp.*, 326 S.C. 248, 253, 487 S.E.2d 596, 598 (1997).

Mr. Frebowitz was qualified as an expert in the area of crime scene investigations and criminal investigations. Mr. Frebowitz had worked as a criminal investigator for 5 years and had many other years as police officer. His experience qualified him to give opinions on evidence collection and to be able to discuss deficiencies in the investigation. *See Fields, supra.*