ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

APPEAL FROM HORRY COUNTY  
Court of General Sessions

NOV 09 2015

The Honorable Paul M. Burch, Circuit Court Judge

SC Court of Appeals

Appellate Case No. 2014-001668

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT,

v.

ANTHONY E. ADKINS,

APPELLANT.

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

V. HENRY GUNTER, JR.  
Assistant Attorney General  
SC Bar No. 102259

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-3727

JIMMY A. RICHARDSON  
Solicitor, Fifteenth Judicial Circuit

Post Office Drawer 1276  
Conway, South Carolina 29526  
(843) 915-5460

**ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT**

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

---

<sup>3</sup> Note also that defense counsel thoroughly impeached the victim with other evidence, including a police report which was admitted into evidence. (R. p. 194-204). See State v. Cooper, 312 S.C. 90, 92, 439 S.E.2d 276, 277 (1994) (error in excluding impeachment evidence was harmless where the witness was

642, 644 (1990) (no reversible error in excluding impeachment evidence where “more damaging” evidence was presented).

Third, Appellant cannot show prejudice from exclusion of the text messages because the evidence of his guilt was overwhelming. The victim unequivocally and consistently identified Appellant – her boyfriend of ten years – as the person who committed the crimes against her. (R. p. 12-27; p. 103, lines 1-2). The State presented photographic evidence of the victim’s injuries, and presented testimony from Joyce Jones, a totally independent witness with no ties to either the victim or Appellant, corroborating the victim’s extensive injuries, her extremely distraught state, and the fact that the victim immediately identified Appellant as the person who hurt her. (See R. p. 27-30; p. 39-42; see State’s Exhibits # 1-7, Photographs). Indeed, **Appellant did not dispute at trial that the victim had been “beaten up.”** (R. p. 7, lines 1-3; p. 11, lines 19-21; p. 274, lines 5-8; p. 279, lines 7-8; p. 290, lines 21-22). See State v. Key, 256 S.C. 90, 97, 180 S.E.2d 888, 891 (1971) (holding that, in a harmless error analysis, “undisputed testimony is more conclusive than testimony which is in dispute”); see also State v. Jenkins, 412 S.C. 643, 652, 773 S.E.2d 906, 910 (2015) (in concluding admission of DNA evidence implicating the defendant was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt, the court found “abundant, independent evidence” of the defendant’s guilt including the victim’s lengthy and detailed testimony and the physical evidence of the victim’s injuries). Appellant’s bald assertion that he was not the one who did it fell flat when, despite presenting a defense, he failed to articulate any theories about why the victim would falsely accuse him of this crime or about who else could have committed the

---

“thoroughly impeached” with other evidence), *overruled on other grounds by Franklin v. Catoe*, 346 S.C. 563, 552 S.E.2d 718 (2001).

crime. (See R. p. 273-292). Accordingly, because Appellant cannot show prejudice from the exclusion of the text message records, he is not entitled to relief on this ground. See State v. McLeod, 362 S.C. 73, 84-85, 606 S.E.2d 215, 221 (Ct. App. 2004) (finding that even assuming it was error to exclude certain impeachment evidence, the error would be harmless given the overwhelming evidence against the defendant).

**II. The trial judge properly declined to qualify a former law enforcement officer as an expert in the field of police investigation for the sole purpose of criticizing the investigation in Appellant's case where expert testimony on this topic was not necessary because it was not beyond the ordinary knowledge of the jurors and where Appellant cannot show prejudice from exclusion of the expert testimony since he was permitted to fully examine the witnesses on the alleged deficiencies in the investigation and allowed to fully discuss these deficiencies in closing argument.**

#### Relevant Facts

Near the end of the defense case, Appellant's counsel sought to present the testimony of Neil Frebowitz, a retired law enforcement officer, as an expert witness in the field of "police investigation." (R. p. 240). The State requested a hearing outside of the presence of the jury. (R. p. 240, lines 8-11). Defense counsel stated he could perform the expert qualification in front of the jury, since "[h]e's a cop of 40 years" and "I think he'll be an expert on investigation." (R. p. 240, lines 19-20). The State responded that Mr. Frebowitz is an officer no longer with the Horry County Police Department who "has never been qualified as an expert, even on the cases that he worked, so I'm unsure why he would be qualified as anything on a case that he did not work." (R. p. 240, line 22 – p. 241, line 2). Appellant's counsel responded that "[h]e reviewed it, and now he's in a new career as an expert, just like doctors that retire." (R. p. 241, lines 3-5). The judge stated

he was requiring a proffer of the testimony because he did not wish to “mess up the record this far in the trial.” (R. p. 241, lines 6-7).

Mr. Frebowitz then testified he began his law enforcement career in 1974 as a desk officer in “Springfield Township, Montgomery County.” (R. p. 245-247). In 1978, he moved to Washington, D.C., to become a patrol officer with the Metro Police Department. (R. p. 242-243). Mr. Frebowitz testified that within three years he was promoted to sergeant and then supervised the patrol section and managed an investigative unit. (R. p. 243). He retired from the Metro Police as a “watch commander.” (R. p. 244). In 2004, Mr. Frebowitz moved to Horry County, where he planned to retire but instead joined the Horry County police force as a patrol officer. (R. p. 279-81). In 2006, he was promoted to the rank of corporal. (R. p. 247). His duties included supervising crime scenes. (R. p. 247). In 2008, Mr. Frebowitz was reassigned to the violent crimes unit of the detective division. (R. p. 248). In that unit, Mr. Frebowitz focused on murder and sexually-based offenses. (R. p. 248, lines 17-18). During the approximately six years he worked on violent crimes with the Horry County police force, Mr. Frebowitz visited about forty crimes scenes per year. (R. p. 249, lines 1-9). His duties included ensuring the uniformed patrol officers had established “the appropriate protocols,” making sure crime scenes were not disturbed, and ensuring that the crime scene units were summoned and that evidence was collected according to best standards and practices. (R. p. 249, lines 11-19). Mr. Frebowitz retired in March of 2014. (R. p. 248-250). He testified he was a police officer for almost forty years. (R. p. 250, lines 2-7).

On cross-examination, Mr. Frebowitz testified that while he was with the Metro Police in Washington, D.C., he was a “uniform officer” for twenty-five years rather than

a detective or crime scene investigator. (R. p. 251-252). He also clarified that as a detective with the Horry County police, he held a “supervisor rank” but was not a supervisor over other detectives. (R. p. 253, lines 15-22). He further testified that at the present time, he was a “background investigator retained by the United States Government.” (R. p. 254, lines 3-4). He stated it was his responsibility to investigate the backgrounds of people applying for jobs of a sensitive nature in government. (R. p. 254, lines 9-14). Finally, he testified that he had been qualified as an expert one time, when he was with the Metro Police, to discuss his experience with a computer program that led to a person’s arrest. (R. p. 255, lines 6-24). However, he had never been qualified as an expert in crime scenes or investigations. (R. p. 255, lines 20-22).

At the conclusion of Mr. Frebowitz’s testimony, defense counsel requested that Mr. Frebowitz be qualified as an expert in crime scene investigation. (R. p. 258, lines 6-7). Defense counsel relied primarily upon Mr. Frebowitz’s forty years of experience in law enforcement, his supervisory experience in the Metro Police, and the approximately 240 crime scenes he had visited in Horry County over the last six years. (R. p. 258, lines 6-13). The State responded that Mr. Frebowitz’s experience in law enforcement, while certainly respectable and commendable, did not qualify him as an expert in crime scenes or investigations. (R. p. 258, lines 14-23). The State also pointed out that Mr. Frebowitz had never been qualified as an expert in those fields before. (R. p. 258, lines 23-25). Defense counsel replied that Rule 702 is “actually a low standard” and that Mr. Frebowitz met the knowledge, skill, experience, education, and training requirement. (R. p. 259, lines 18-22). He also stated that Appellant had the constitutional right to present relevant evidence regarding “the State’s inability to meet their burden,” that he had the

right under South Carolina law to argue spoliation of evidence since the State “failed to preserve the evidence,” and that he had the right to rebut the previous officer’s testimony concerning the police department procedures. (R. p. 259-260). He stated Mr. Frebowitz might also be able to testify about “whether or not a video might have been able to be received” and what the proper procedures are for acquiring a search warrant for Appellant’s house and securing the house. (R. p. 260, lines 11-16).

The State responded by pointing out that the only time an expert witness is necessary is when there is an issue of fact outside the scope of common knowledge and understanding of the jury, and here, there was no testimony Mr. Frebowitz could offer as an expert that would be relevant to the issue of whether Appellant was guilty of the charged crimes. (R. p. 260, lines 19-25).

The judge first noted that trial courts in the United States have been heavily criticized regarding “the shift of trying defendants for what they are charged with, to trying everybody else, especially law enforcement.” (R. p. 261, lines 2-7). He further stated that while he respected Mr. Frebowitz’s law enforcement career since he was “in it a long time [him]self” and “followed almost the same path,” Mr. Frebowitz would not be qualified in the field of “criminal investigation to testify in this regard.” (R. p. 261, lines 10-17). The judge told counsel he was free to make the points he was trying to make regarding what the police failed to do in the investigation and could “certainly comment on that” in his argument to the jury. (R. p. 261, lines 18-23). After defense counsel took exception to the ruling, the judge pointed out that the South Carolina Supreme Court has “really tightened down on our ability to qualify expert witnesses” and that what the defense was trying to do was “just out of the question.” (R. p. 262, lines 2-9). He also

noted that “[i]n 23 years on this bench, I have never had anything like that come up to try to qualify somebody for police investigation.” (R. p. 262, lines 22-25). He declined defense counsel’s request to proffer further testimony from Mr. Frebowitz regarding “what he would have testified to in court.” (R. p. 262, lines 10-18).

The next morning, the solicitor stated she wanted to put two cases on the record, State v. Myers, 301 S.C. 251, 391 S.E.2d 551 (1990), and McDill v. Mark’s Auto Sales, 367 S.C. 486, 626 S.E.2d 52 (Ct. App. 2006). (R. p. 269-270). She explained that these cases stand for the proposition that expert testimony is necessary only when there is an issue of fact outside the scope of common knowledge and understanding of a jury or a piece of evidence that cannot be understood without explanation and opinion, and that an expert opinion is only proper when the subject matter is scientific, technical, or requires other specialized knowledge. (R. p. 270, lines 1-13). She also pointed out that expert testimony should be relevant to the defendant’s guilt and meet the requirements of Rule 403, SCRE. (R. p. 270, lines 13-15). Defense counsel reiterated that he believed Rule 702 allowed the expert testimony. (R. p. 271, lines 9-10). The judge stated he stood by his decision disallowing the expert testimony. (R. 270-271).

#### Applicable Law

In criminal cases, appellate courts sit to review errors of law only. State v. Baccus, 367 S.C. at 48, 625 S.E.2d at 220. Trial judges have considerable discretion in ruling on the admission or exclusion of evidence, and an appellate court will not reverse a trial judge’s ruling on evidentiary matters absent a clear abuse of that discretion resulting in prejudice to the defendant. State v. Gaster, 349 S.C. 545, 557, 564 S.E.2d 87, 93 (2002); see State v. Torres, 390 S.C. 618, 625, 703 S.E.2d 226, 230 (2010); State v.

Kelley, 319 S.C. 173, 176, 460 S.E.2d 368, 370 (1995). Likewise, the decision as to whether to admit or exclude expert testimony rests within the trial judge's sound discretion and will not be reversed on appeal absent a prejudicial abuse of that discretion. State v. Price, 368 S.C. 494, 498, 629 S.E.2d 363, 365 (2006); see State v. White, 382 S.C. 265, 269, 676 S.E.2d 684, 686 (2009) ("A trial court's decision to admit or exclude expert testimony will not be reversed absent a prejudicial abuse of discretion."). "An abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the trial court either lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law." State v. McDonald, 343 S.C. 319, 325, 540 S.E.2d 464, 467 (2000).

"Expert testimony may be used to help the jury to determine a fact in issue based on the expert's specialized knowledge, experience, or skill and is necessary in cases in which the subject matter falls outside the realm of ordinary lay knowledge." Watson v. Ford Motor Co., 389 S.C. 434, 445, 699 S.E.2d 169, 175 (2010). Pursuant to the South Carolina Rules of Evidence, expert testimony is admissible under the following circumstances:

If scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge will assist the trier of fact to understand the evidence or to determine a fact in issue, a witness qualified as an expert by knowledge, skill, experience, training, or education, may testify thereto in the form of an opinion or otherwise.

Rule 702, SCRE. A witness can properly be qualified as an expert where "the witness has acquired by study or practical experience such knowledge of the subject matter of his testimony as would enable him to give guidance and assistance to the jury in resolving a factual issue which is beyond the scope of the jury's good judgment and common knowledge." State v. Henry, 329 S.C. 266, 273, 495 S.E.2d 463, 467 (Ct. App. 1998). "[A]ll expert testimony under Rule 702, SCRE, imposes on the trial courts an affirmative

and meaningful gatekeeping duty.” State v. White, 382 S.C. at 270, 676 S.E.2d at 686. Thus, “[a]ll expert testimony must satisfy the Rule 702 criteria, and that includes the trial court's gatekeeping function in ensuring the proposed expert testimony meets a reliability threshold for the jury’s ultimate consideration.” Id.; see also State v. Tapp, 398 S.C. 376, 388, 728 S.E.2d 468, 474 (2012).

### Discussion

Appellant argues the trial judge erred in failing to qualify Mr. Frebowitz, a “40-year law enforcement veteran,” as an expert witness on police investigation and/or crime scene investigation. (See Brief of Appellant, p. 9). To the contrary, the trial judge did not err by refusing to qualify Mr. Frebowitz as an expert where “police investigation” is not a field of expertise beyond the scope of the jury’s common knowledge, and where expert testimony presented for the sole purpose of criticizing the police investigation bore little relevance on the issue of Appellant’s guilt and was unnecessary and cumulative where Appellant’s counsel was permitted to thoroughly cross-examine the State’s witnesses regarding the alleged deficiencies in the investigation and was allowed to emphasize these deficiencies in his closing argument.

First, as discussed above, expert testimony is only needed where the subject matter of the testimony is beyond the ordinary knowledge of the jurors. Police officers are not generally qualified as expert witnesses unless they have some specialized knowledge or training in a specific scientific field, such as fingerprinting, accident reconstruction, or dog-tracking. See, e.g., State v. Anderson, 407 S.C. 278, 285-86, 754 S.E.2d 905, 908-909 (Ct. App. 2014) (officer properly qualified as expert in fingerprint analysis); McDill v. Mark’s Auto Sales, Inc., 367 S.C. 486, 490-92, 626 S.E.2d 52, 55-56

(Ct. App. 2006) (discussing qualifying an officer as an expert in accident reconstruction); State v. White, 382 S.C. 265, 676 S.E.2d 684 (2009) (affirming qualification of an officer as an expert in dog-tracking). Tellingly, none of the police officers who were called to testify by the State in Appellant's case were qualified as experts. It would be nonsensical to have an officer testifying for the defense qualified as an expert when the State's officers were not themselves qualified as experts.

Routine police investigation is simply not beyond the ordinary knowledge of the jurors. Therefore, for the same reasons forensic interviewers should not generally be qualified as experts, police officers should also not generally be qualified as experts where the moving party cannot show that expert testimony is necessary for the particular subject matter. Cf. State v. Anderson, Op. No. 27558 (S.C. Sup. Ct. filed Aug. 5, 2015) (Shearouse Adv. Sh. No. 30 at 39) ("Appellant also contends the circuit court erred in qualifying Witness Smith as an expert in forensic interviewing, arguing that South Carolina courts do not recognize this type of expertise, and that a forensic interviewer is restricted to testifying to facts. We agree." (citations omitted)). Here, Appellant sought to bolster his case by presenting testimony from a former police officer "improperly imbued with the imprimatur of an expert witness." State v. Whitner, 399 S.C. 547, 559, 732 S.E.2d 861, 867 (2012); see also State v. Kromah, 401 S.C. 340, 357, 737 S.E.2d 490, 499 (2013) (noting that "although an expert's testimony theoretically is to be given no more weight by a jury than any other witness, it is an inescapable fact that jurors can have a tendency to attach more significance to the testimony of experts" and stating that "[t]he label of expert should be jealously guarded by the court and never loosely bandied about."). The trial judge properly disallowed this procedure, and his refusal to qualify

Mr. Frebowitz as an expert should be affirmed.<sup>4</sup> See McDill, 367 S.C. at 491, 626 S.E.2d at 55 (“Just as a trial court has broad discretion in qualifying a witness as an expert, which this court may not overturn on appeal, a trial court also has broad discretion in deciding not to qualify a witness as an expert.”); Rule 220(c), SCACR (the appellate court may affirm the evidentiary rulings of the trial court based upon any grounds appearing in the record).

Second, even assuming the trial judge somehow committed error, Appellant could not have suffered any prejudice where he was permitted to fully cross-examine the officers regarding the alleged deficiencies in the investigation and allowed to fully discuss these deficiencies in closing argument. See, e.g., State v. Sherard, 303 S.C. 172, 176, 399 S.E.2d 595, 597 (1991) (appellate courts will generally not set aside a judgment based on insubstantial errors not affecting the result). Appellant sought to qualify Mr. Frebowitz as an expert for the sole purpose of providing “his opinions on evidence collection” and “discuss[ing] deficiencies in the investigation.” (Brief of Appellant, p. 11). However, Appellant had already very clearly made his point – that the investigation was flawed – through other witnesses. (See R. p. 56-60; p. 66-72; p. 82-107; p. 193-239). Appellant cross-examined Officer Kenneth Mossi regarding his failure to locate Appellant that night, his failure to make a report of his activities, his failure to recognize the address on West Homewood Road as a major crime scene, and his failure to obtain a search warrant for that address. (R. p. 66-72). Additionally, Appellant called Officer Joe VanVorrhis as a defense witness and examined him about his failure to recognize the

---

<sup>4</sup> Additionally, the trial judge’s ruling should be affirmed because Appellant failed to offer any testimony establishing the threshold requirement that Mr. Frebowitz was individually reliable, i.e., that he was “able to draw reliable results” from the procedures he applied. See State v. Chavis, 412 S.C. 101, 108, 771 S.E.2d 336, 339 (2015).

offense against the victim as a major crime, his failure to ensure a detective was called to the alleged crime scene, his failure to obtain a videotape from the gas station from which the victim escaped Appellant's custody, his failure to include certain activities in his reports, his failure to mark the address at West Homewood Road as a crime scene and attempt to obtain evidence from that address, and his failure to investigate allegedly inconsistent statements made by the victim. (R. p. 86-107; p. 123-128). Appellant also called the victim, a solicitor's office investigator, and a doctor who examined the victim and used their testimony to emphasize the deficiencies in the investigation. (R. p. 194-204; p. 208-239).

Furthermore, in closing argument, Appellant argued extensively about how the alleged deficiencies in the investigation should cause the jury to have a reasonable doubt about Appellant's guilt. (See R. p. 273-292). Defense counsel pointed out that the State failed to call the lead investigator as a witness and that the only officer called by the State was an officer who never met the victim and was unable to locate Appellant on the night in question. (R. p. 273-274). Counsel argued that the testimony of the State's own investigator and the doctor who examined the victim contradicted the victim's own version of events. (R. p. 274-275). Counsel pointed out that the officers failed to show Appellant was even in Horry County on the night in question, failed to secure a search warrant for the crime scene, failed to collect any evidence from the crime scene or from the victim's employee records to corroborate the victim's testimony, and failed to obtain a videotape from the convenience store where the victim escaped from Appellant. (R. p. 281-282; p. 286-287). Counsel also contended that the police failed to investigate the

glaring inconsistencies in the victim's version of events. (R. p. 282-286). Finally, and perhaps most significantly, counsel argued as follows:

[E]ver since the OJ trial there has been an air in our country that we should not say the police did a bad job. We should look the other way. Judge Ito allowed them to question the investigative techniques in that case. **If there had been an expert here for you, what might he have said? Might he have said that the police work was inappropriate? Might he have said that the crime scene was never secured? Might he have told you that there is no forensic evidence other than her statement that it had been? Police work was not professional in this case.** The officer that sat here that I called to the stand told you victims lie. He knows that to be a fact in his experience. Victims lie. You are going to render a verdict today, a verdict that my client will live with for the rest of his life. It will be a verdict that I will live with. I want it to be a verdict that you all can live with. God bless you. God bless America. Thank you.

(R. p. 291, line 24 – p. 292, line 17) (emphasis added).

The trial judge's refusal to qualify Mr. Frebowitz as an expert witness in police investigation could not possibly have prejudiced Appellant in light of defense counsel's examination of the witnesses and his closing argument very clearly outlining the alleged deficiencies in the investigation. See Fields v. J. Haynes Waters Builders, Inc., 376 S.C. 545, 557, 658 S.E.2d 80, 86-87 (2008) (error in refusing to qualify a witness as an expert was harmless where the proposed expert testimony would have been cumulative); cf. State v. Myers, 301 S.C. 251, 256-58, 391 S.E.2d 551, 554-55 (1990) (finding the defense was prejudiced by the trial judge's failure to qualify one of its witnesses an expert where the solicitor conceded that blood-spatter analysis was a field of expertise yet he extensively discussed the question of blood spatters and their interpretation in closing argument and the jury was therefore "bombarded with the solicitor's non-expert views" on the topic); cf. State v. Frazier, 357 S.C. 161, 167, 592 S.E.2d 621, 624 (2004) (exclusion of expert testimony regarding the unreliability of eyewitness identifications

was not harmless error because the identification of the defendant was crucial to the State's case where it was the only evidence placing him near the scene of the crime). Again, in this case, an expert witness was simply not needed to convey Appellant's points to the jury. Moreover, as discussed previously, the evidence against Appellant was simply overwhelming. See, e.g., State v. Thompson, 352 S.C. 552, 562, 575 S.E.2d 77, 83 (Ct. App. 2003) (any possible error is harmless where there is overwhelming evidence of the defendant's guilt). Accordingly, Appellant is not entitled to relief on this ground.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons discussed above, the State requests that this Court affirm Appellant's convictions and sentences.